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(ii) Evidence or witnesses necessary 
to prove the claim are unavailable. 

§ 401.623 Joint and several liability. 
(a) Collection action. CMS will liq-

uidate claims as quickly as possible. In 
cases of joint and several liability 
among two or more debtors, CMS will 
not allocate the burden of claims pay-
ment among the debtors. CMS will pro-
ceed with collection action against one 
debtor even if other liable debtors have 
not paid their proportionate shares. 

(b) Compromise. Compromise with one 
debtor does not release a claim against 
remaining debtors. Furthermore, CMS 
will not consider the amount of a com-
promise with one debtor to be a bind-
ing precedent concerning the amounts 
due from other debtors who are jointly 
and severally liable on the claim. 

§ 401.625 Effect of CMS claims collec-
tion decisions on appeals. 

Any action taken under this subpart 
regarding the compromise of a claim, 
or suspension or termination of collec-
tion action on a claim, is not an initial 
determination for purposes of CMS ap-
peal procedures. 

PART 402—CIVIL MONEY PEN-
ALTIES, ASSESSMENTS, AND EX-
CLUSIONS 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

Sec. 
402.1 Basis and scope. 
402.3 Definitions. 
402.5 Right to a hearing before the final de-

termination. 
402.7 Notice of proposed determination. 
402.9 Failure to request a hearing. 
402.11 Notice to other agencies and other 

entities. 
402.13 Penalty, assessment, and exclusion 

not exclusive. 
402.15 Collateral estoppel. 
402.17 Settlement. 
402.19 Hearings and appeals. 
402.21 Judicial review. 

Subpart B—Civil Money Penalties and 
Assessments 

402.105 Amount of penalty. 
402.107 Amount of assessment. 
402.109 Statistical sampling. 
402.111 Factors considered determinations 

regarding the amount of penalties and 
assessments. 

402.113 When a penalty and assessment are 
collectible. 

402.115 Collection of penalty or assessment. 

Subpart C—Exclusions 

402.200 Basis and purpose. 
402.205 Length of exclusion. 
402.208 Factors considered in determining 

whether to exclude, and the length of ex-
clusion. 

402.209 Scope and effect of exclusion. 
402.210 Notices. 
402.212 Response to notice of proposed de-

termination to exclude. 
402.214 Appeal of exclusion. 
402.300 Request for reinstatement. 
402.302 Basis for reinstatement. 
402.304 Approval of request for reinstate-

ment. 
402.306 Denial of request for reinstatement. 
402.308 Waivers of exclusions. 

AUTHORITY: Secs. 1102 and 1871 of the Social 
Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1302 and 1395hh). 

SOURCE: 63 FR 68690, Dec. 14, 1998, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

§ 402.1 Basis and scope. 
(a) Basis. This part is based on the 

sections of the Act that are specified in 
paragraph (c) of this section. 

(b) Scope. This part— 
(1) Provides for the imposition of 

civil money penalties, assessments, and 
exclusions against persons that violate 
the provisions of the Act specified in 
paragraph (c), (d), or (e) of this section; 
and 

(2) Sets forth the appeal rights of per-
sons subject to penalties, assessments, 
or exclusion and the procedures for re-
instatement following exclusion. 

(c) Civil money penalties. CMS or OIG 
may impose civil money penalties 
against any person or other entity 
specified in paragraphs (c)(1) through 
(c)(33) of this section under the identi-
fied section of the Act. (The authori-
ties that also permit imposition of an 
assessment or exclusion are noted in 
the applicable paragraphs.) 

(1) Sections 1833(h)(5)(D) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any person that knowingly 
and willfully, and on a repeated basis, 
bills for a clinical diagnostic labora-
tory test, other than on an assignment- 
related basis. This provision includes 
tests performed in a physician’s office 
but excludes tests performed in a rural 
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health clinic. (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(2) Section 1833(i)(6)—Any person 
that knowingly and willfully presents, 
or causes to be presented, a bill or re-
quest for payment for an intraocular 
lens inserted during or after cataract 
surgery for which the Medicare pay-
ment rate includes the cost of acquir-
ing the class of lens involved. 

(3) Section 1833(q)(2)(B)—Any entity 
that knowingly and willfully fails to 
provide information about a referring 
physician, including the physician’s 
name and unique physician identifica-
tion number for the referring physi-
cian, when seeking payment on an un-
assigned basis. (This violation, if it oc-
curs in repeated cases, may also cause 
an exclusion.) 

(4) Sections 1834(a)(11)(A) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any durable medical equip-
ment supplier that knowingly and will-
fully charges for a covered service that 
is furnished on a rental basis after the 
rental payments may no longer be 
made (except for maintenance and 
servicing) as provided in section 
1834(a)(7)(A). (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(5) Sections 1834(a)(18)(B) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any nonparticipating dura-
ble medical equipment supplier that 
knowingly and willfully, in violation of 
section 1834(a)(18)(A), fails to make a 
refund to Medicare beneficiaries for a 
covered service for which payment is 
precluded due to an unsolicited tele-
phone contact from the supplier. (This 
violation may also include an assess-
ment and cause exclusion.) 

(6) Sections 1834(b)(5)(C) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any nonparticipating physi-
cian or supplier that knowingly and 
willfully charges a Medicare bene-
ficiary more than the limiting charge, 
as specified in section 1834(b)(5)(B), for 
radiologist services. (This violation 
may also include an assessment and 
cause exclusion.) 

(7) Sections 1834(c)(4)(C) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any nonparticipating physi-
cian or supplier that knowingly and 
willfully charges a Medicare bene-
ficiary more than the limiting charge, 
as specified in section 1834(c)(4)(B), for 
mammography screening. (This viola-

tion may also include an assessment 
and cause exclusion.) 

(8) Sections 1834(h)(3) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any supplier of prosthetic devices, 
orthotics, and prosthetics that know-
ingly and willfully charges for a cov-
ered prosthetic device, orthotic, or 
prosthetic that is furnished on a rental 
basis after the rental payment may no 
longer be made (except for mainte-
nance and servicing). (This violation 
may also include an assessment and 
cause exclusion.) 

(9) Section 1834(j)(2)(A)(iii)—Any sup-
plier of durable medical equipment, in-
cluding a supplier of prosthetic de-
vices, prosthetics, orthotics, or sup-
plies, that knowingly and willfully dis-
tributes a certificate of medical neces-
sity in violation of section 
1834(j)(2)(A)(i) or fails to provide the in-
formation required under section 
1834(j)(2)(A)(ii). 

(10) Sections 1834(j)(4) and 1842(j)(2)— 
(i) Any supplier of durable medical 

equipment, including a supplier of 
prosthetic devices, prosthetics, 
orthotics, or supplies, that knowingly 
and willfully fails to make refunds in a 
timely manner to Medicare bene-
ficiaries for services billed other than 
on an assignment-related basis if— 

(A) The supplier does not possess a 
Medicare supplier number; 

(B) The service is denied in advance 
under section 1834(a)(15); or 

(C) The service is determined not to 
be medically necessary or reasonable. 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(11) Sections 1842(b)(18)(B) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any practitioner specified in 
section 1842(b)(18)(C) (physician assist-
ants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse 
specialists, certified registered nurse 
anesthetists, certified nurse-midwives, 
clinical social workers, and clinical 
psychologists) or other person that 
knowingly and willfully bills or col-
lects for any services by the practi-
tioners on other than an assignment- 
related basis. (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(12) Sections 1842(k) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any physician who knowingly and will-
fully presents, or causes to be pre-
sented, a claim or bill for an assistant 
at cataract surgery performed on or 
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after March 1, 1987 for which payment 
may not be made because of section 
1862(a)(15). (This violation may also in-
clude an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(13) Sections 1842(l)(3) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any nonparticipating physician who 
does not accept payment on an assign-
ment-related basis and who knowingly 
and willfully fails to refund on a timely 
basis any amounts collected for serv-
ices that are not reasonable or medi-
cally necessary or are of poor quality, 
in accordance with section 1842(l)(1)(A). 
(This violation may also include an as-
sessment and cause exclusion.) 

(14) Sections 1842(m)(3) and 
1842(j)(2)—(i) Any nonparticipating 
physician, who does not accept pay-
ment for an elective surgical procedure 
on an assignment-related basis and 
whose charge is at least $500, who 
knowingly and willfully fails to— 

(A) Disclose the information required 
by section 1842(m)(1) concerning 
charges and coinsurance amounts; and 

(B) Refund on a timely basis any 
amount collected for the procedure in 
excess of the charges recognized and 
approved by the Medicare program. 

(ii) This violation may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(15) Sections 1842(n)(3) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any physician who knowingly and will-
fully, in repeated cases, bills one or 
more beneficiaries, for purchased diag-
nostic tests, any amount other than 
the payment amount specified in sec-
tion 1842(n)(1)(A) or section 
1842(n)(1)(B). (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(16) Section 1842(p)(3)(A)—Any physi-
cian or practitioner who knowingly 
and willfully fails promptly to provide 
the appropriate diagnosis code or codes 
upon request by CMS or a carrier on 
any request for payment or bill not 
submitted on an assignment-related 
basis for any service furnished by the 
physician. (This violation, if it occurs 
in repeated cases, may also cause ex-
clusion.) 

(17) Sections 1848(g)(1)(B) and 
1842(j)(2)— 

(i) Any nonparticipating physician, 
supplier, or other person that furnishes 
physicians’ services and does not ac-

cept payment on an assignment-related 
basis, that— 

(A) Knowingly and willfully bills or 
collects in excess of the limiting 
charge (as defined in section 1848(g)(2)) 
on a repeated basis; or 

(B) Fails to make an adjustment or 
refund on a timely basis as required by 
section 1848(g)(1)(A)(iii) or (iv). 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(18) Section 1848(g)(3)(B) and 
1842(j)(2)—Any person that knowingly 
and willfully bills for State plan ap-
proved physicians’ services, as defined 
in section 1848(j)(3), on other than an 
assignment-related basis for a Medi-
care beneficiary who is also eligible for 
Medicaid (these individuals include 
qualified Medicare beneficiaries). This 
provision applies to services furnished 
on or after April 1, 1990. (This violation 
may also include an assessment and 
cause exclusion.) 

(19) Section 1848(g)(4)(B)(ii), 
1842(p)(3), and 1842(j)(2)(A)— 

(i) Any physician, supplier, or other 
person (except any person that has 
been excluded from the Medicare pro-
gram) that, for services furnished after 
September 1, 1990, knowingly and will-
fully— 

(A) Fails to submit a claim on a 
standard claim form for services pro-
vided for which payment is made under 
Part B on a reasonable charge or fee 
schedule basis; or 

(B) Imposes a charge for completing 
and submitting the standard claims 
form. 

(ii) These violations, if they occur in 
repeated cases, may also cause exclu-
sion. 

(20) Section 1862(b)(5)(C)—Any em-
ployer (other than a Federal or other 
governmental agency) that, before Oc-
tober 1, 1998, willfully or repeatedly 
fails to provide timely and accurate in-
formation requested relating to an em-
ployee’s group health insurance cov-
erage. 

(21) Section 1862(b)(6)(B)—Any entity 
that knowingly, willfully, and repeat-
edly— 

(i) Fails to complete a claim form re-
lating to the availability of other 
health benefit plans in accordance with 
section 1862(b)(6)(A); or 
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(ii) Provides inaccurate information 
relating to the availability of other 
health benefit plans on the claim form. 

(22) Section 1877(g)(5)—Any person 
that fails to report information re-
quired by HHS under section 1877(f) 
concerning ownership, investment, and 
compensation arrangements. (This vio-
lation may also include an assessment 
and cause exclusion.) 

(23) Sections 1879(h), 1834(a)(18), and 
1842(j)(2)— 

(i) Any durable medical equipment 
supplier, including a supplier of pros-
thetic devices, prosthetics, orthotics, 
or supplies, that knowingly and will-
fully fails to make refunds in a timely 
manner to Medicare beneficiaries for 
services billed on an assignment-re-
lated basis if— 

(A) The supplier did not possess a 
Medicare supplier number; 

(B) The service is denied in advance 
under section 1834(a)(15) of the Act; or 

(C) The service is determined not to 
be payable under section 1834(a)(17)(b) 
because of unsolicited telephone con-
tacts. 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(24) Section 1882(a)(2)—Any person 
that issues a Medicare supplemental 
policy that has not been approved by 
the State regulatory program or does 
not meet Federal standards on and 
after the effective date in section 
1882(p)(1)(C). (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(25) Section 1882(p)(8)—Any person 
that sells or issues Medicare supple-
mental policies, on or after July 30, 
1992, that fail to conform to the NAIC 
or Federal standards established under 
section 1882(p). (This violation may 
also include an assessment and cause 
exclusion.) 

(26) Section 1882(p)(9)(C)— 
(i) Any person that sells a Medicare 

supplemental policy and— 
(A) Fails to make available for sale 

the core group of basic benefits when 
selling other Medicare supplemental 
policies with additional benefits; or 

(B) Fails to provide the individual, 
before the sale of the policy, an outline 
of coverage describing the benefits pro-
vided by the policy. 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(27) Section 1882(q)(5)(C)— 
(i) Any person that fails to— 
(A) Suspend a Medicare supplemental 

policy at the policyholder’s request, if 
the policyholder applies for and is de-
termined eligible for medical assist-
ance, and the policyholder provides no-
tice within 90 days of the eligibility de-
termination; or 

(B) Automatically reinstate the pol-
icy as of the date of termination of 
medical assistance if the policyholder 
loses eligibility for medical assistance 
and the policyholder provides notice 
within 90 days of loss of eligibility. 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(28) Section 1882(r)(6)(A)—Any person 
that fails to provide refunds or credits 
as required by section 1882(r)(1)(B). 
(This violation may also include an as-
sessment and cause exclusion.) 

(29) Section 1882(s)(4)— 
(i) Any issuer of a Medicare supple-

mental policy that— 
(A) Does not waive any time periods 

applicable to preexisting conditions, 
waiting periods, elimination periods, or 
probationary periods if the time peri-
ods were already satisfied under a pre-
ceding Medicare supplemental policy; 
or 

(B) Denies a policy, conditions the 
issuance or effectiveness of the policy, 
or discriminates in the pricing of the 
policy based on health status or other 
criteria as specified in section 
1882(s)(2)(A). 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(30) Section 1882(t)(2)— 
(i) Any issuer of a Medicare supple-

mental policy that— 
(A) Fails substantially to provide 

medically necessary services to enroll-
ees seeking the services through the 
issuer’s network of entities; 

(B) Imposes premiums on enrollees in 
excess of the premiums approved by 
the State; 

(C) Acts to expel an enrollee for rea-
sons other than nonpayment of pre-
miums; or 

(D) Does not provide each enrollee at 
the time of enrollment with the spe-
cific information provided in section 
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1882(t)(1)(E)(i) or fails to obtain a writ-
ten acknowledgment from the enrollee 
of receipt of the information (as re-
quired by section 1882(t)(1)(E)(ii)). 

(ii) These violations may also include 
an assessment and cause exclusion. 

(31) Sections 1834(k)(6) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any person or entity who knowingly 
and willfully bills or collects for any 
outpatient therapy services or com-
prehensive outpatient rehabilitation 
services on other than an assignment- 
related basis. (This violation may also 
include an assessment and cause exclu-
sion.) 

(32) Sections 1834(l)(6) and 1842(j)(2)— 
Any supplier of ambulance services 
who knowingly and willfully bills or 
collects for any services on other than 
an assignment-related basis. (This vio-
lation may also include an assessment 
and cause exclusion.) 

(33) Section 1806(b)(2)(B)—Any person 
who knowingly and willfully fails to 
furnish a beneficiary with an itemized 
statement of items or services within 
30 days of the beneficiary’s request. 

(d) Assessments. CMS or OIG may im-
pose assessments in addition to civil 
money penalties for violations of the 
following statutory sections: 

(1) Section 1833: Paragraph (h)(5)(D). 
(2) Section 1834: Paragraphs 

(a)(11)(A), (a)(18)(B), (b)(5)(C), (c)(4)(C), 
(h)(3), (j)(4), (k)(6), and (l)(6). 

(3) Section 1842: Paragraphs (k), (l)(3), 
(m)(3), and (n)(3). 

(4) Section 1848: Paragraph (g)(1)(B). 
(5) Section 1877: Paragraph (g)(5). 
(6) Section 1879: Paragraph (h). 
(7) Section 1882: Paragraphs (a)(2), 

(p)(8), (p)(9)(C), (q)(5)(C), (r)(6)(A), (s)(3), 
and (t)(2). 

(e) Exclusions. (1) CMS or OIG may 
exclude any person from participation 
in the Medicare program on the basis 
of any of the following violations of the 
statute: 

(i) Section 1833: Paragraphs (h)(5)(D) 
and, in repeated cases, (q)(2)(B). 

(ii) Section 1834: Paragraphs 
(a)(11)(A), (a)(18)(B), (b)(5)(C), (c)(4)(C), 
(h)(3), (j)(4), (k)(6), and (l)(6). 

(iii) Section 1842: Paragraphs 
(b)(18)(B), (k), (l)(3), (m)(3), (n)(3), and, 
in repeated cases, (p)(3)(B). 

(iv) Section 1848: Paragraphs 
(g)(1)(B), (g)(3)(B), and, in repeated 
cases, (g)(4)(B)(ii). 

(v) Section 1877: Paragraph (g)(5). 
(vi) Section 1879: Paragraph (h). 
(vii) Section 1882: Paragraphs (a)(2), 

(p)(8), (p)(9)(C), (q)(5)(C), (r)(6)(A), (s)(4), 
and (t)(2). 

(2) CMS or OIG must exclude from 
participation in the Medicare program 
any of the following, under the identi-
fied section of the Act: 

(i) Section 1834(a)(17)(C)—Any sup-
plier of durable medical equipment and 
supplies that are covered under section 
1834(a)(13) that knowingly contacts 
Medicare beneficiaries by telephone re-
garding the furnishing of covered serv-
ices in violation of section 
1834(a)(17)(A) and whose conduct estab-
lishes a pattern of prohibited contacts 
as described under section 
1834(a)(17)(A). 

(ii) Section 1834(h)(3)—Any supplier 
of prosthetic devices, orthotics, and 
prosthetics that knowingly contacts 
Medicare beneficiaries by telephone re-
garding the furnishing of prosthetic de-
vices, orthotics, or prosthetics in the 
same manner as in the violation under 
section 1834(a)(17)(A) and whose con-
duct establishes a pattern of prohibited 
contacts in the same manner as de-
scribed in section 1834(a)(17)(C). 

(f) Responsible persons. (1) If CMS or 
OIG determines that more than one 
person is responsible for any of the vio-
lations described in paragraph (c) or 
paragraph (d) of this section, it may 
impose a civil money penalty or a civil 
money penalty and assessment against 
any one of those persons or jointly and 
severally against two or more of those 
persons. However, the aggregate 
amount of the assessments collected 
may not exceed the amount that could 
be assessed if only one person were re-
sponsible. 

(2) A principal is liable for penalties 
and assessments for the actions of his 
or her agent acting within the scope of 
the agency. 

(g) Time limits. Neither CMS nor OIG 
initiates an action to impose a civil 
money penalty, assessment, or pro-
ceeding to exclude a person from par-
ticipation in the Medicare program un-
less it begins the action within 6 years 
from the date on which the claim was 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 10:36 Dec 04, 2007 Jkt 211178 PO 00000 Frm 00037 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\211178.XXX 211178eb
en

th
al

l o
n 

P
R

O
D

P
C

61
 w

ith
 C

F
R



28 

42 CFR Ch. IV (10–1–07 Edition) § 402.3 

presented, the request for payment was 
made, or the incident occurred. 

[63 FR 68690, Dec. 14, 1998, as amended at 66 
FR 49546, Sept. 28, 2001] 

§ 402.3 Definitions. 

For purposes of this part: 
Assessment means the amount de-

scribed in § 402.107 and includes the plu-
ral of that term. 

Assignment-related basis means that 
the claim submitted by a physician, 
supplier or other person is paid on the 
basis of an assignment, whereby the 
physician, supplier or other person 
agrees to accept the Medicare payment 
as payment in full for the services fur-
nished to the beneficiary and is pre-
cluded from charging the beneficiary 
more than the deductible and coinsur-
ance based upon the approved Medicare 
fee amount. Additional obligations, in-
cluding obligations to make refunds in 
certain circumstances, are established 
at section 1842(b)(3) of the Act. 

Claim means an application for pay-
ment for a service for which the Medi-
care or Medicaid program may pay. 

Covered means that a service is de-
scribed as reasonable and necessary for 
the diagnosis or treatment of illness or 
injury or to improve the functioning of 
a malformed body member. A service is 
not covered if it is specifically identi-
fied as excluded from Medicare Part B 
coverage or is not a defined Medicare 
Part B benefit. 

Exclusion means the temporary or 
permanent barring of a person or other 
entity from participation in the Medi-
care or State health care program and 
that services furnished or ordered by 
that person are not paid for under ei-
ther program. 

General Counsel means the General 
Counsel of HHS or his or her designees. 

Initiating agency means whichever 
agency (CMS or the OIG) initiates the 
interaction with the person. 

Knowingly or knowingly and willfully 
means that a person, with respect to 
information— 

(1) Has actual knowledge of the infor-
mation; 

(2) Acts in deliberate ignorance of the 
truth or falsity of the information; or 

(3) Acts in reckless disregard of the 
truth or falsity of the information; and 

(4) No proof of specific intent is re-
quired. 

Medicare supplemental policy means a 
policy guaranteeing that a health plan 
will pay a policyholder’s coinsurance 
and deductible and will cover other 
limitations on payment imposed under 
title XVIII of the Act and will provide 
additional health plan or non-Medicare 
coverage for services up to a predefined 
benefit limit. 

NAIC stands for the National Asso-
ciation of Insurance Commissioners. 

Nonparticipating describes a physi-
cian, supplier, or other person (exclud-
ing any provider of services) that, at 
the time of furnishing the services to 
Medicare Part B beneficiaries, is not a 
participating physician or supplier. 

Participating describes a physician or 
supplier (excluding any provider of 
services) that, before the beginning of 
any given year, enters into an agree-
ment with HHS that provides that the 
physician or supplier will accept pay-
ment under the Medicare program on 
an assignment-related basis for all 
services furnished to Medicare Part B 
beneficiaries. 

Penalty means the amount described 
in § 402.105 and includes the plural of 
that term. 

Person means an individual, trust or 
estate, partnership, corporation, pro-
fessional association or corporation, or 
other entity, public or private. 

Physicians’ services means the fol-
lowing Medicare covered professional 
services: 

(1) Surgery, consultation, home, of-
fice and institutional calls, and other 
professional services performed by phy-
sicians. 

(2) Services and supplies furnished 
‘‘incident to’’ a physician’s profes-
sional services. 

(3) Outpatient physical and occupa-
tional therapy services. 

(4) Diagnostic x-ray tests and other 
diagnostic tests (excluding clinical di-
agnostic laboratory tests). 

(5) X-ray, radium, and radioactive 
isotope therapy, including materials 
and services of technicians. 

(6) Antigens prepared by a physician. 
Radiologist service means radiology 

services performed only by, or under 
the direction of, a physician who is cer-
tified, or eligible to be certified, by the 
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